# Going the Extra Mile The relationship between reward and employee engagement

Paul Suff Peter Reilly





### Published by:

INSTITUTE FOR EMPLOYMENT STUDIES Mantell Building University of Sussex Campus Brighton BN1 9RF UK

Tel +44 (0)1273 686751 Fax +44 (0)1273 690430

www.employment-studies.co.uk

Copyright © 2008 Institute for Employment Studies

No part of this publication may be reproduced or used in any form by any means—graphic, electronic or mechanical including photocopying, recording, taping or information storage or retrieval systems—without prior permission in writing from the Institute for Employment Studies.

# The Institute for Employment Studies

The Institute for Employment Studies is an independent, apolitical, international centre of research and consultancy in public employment policy and organisational human resource issues. It works closely with employers in the manufacturing, service and public sectors, government departments, agencies, and professional and employee bodies. For 40 years the Institute has been a focus of knowledge and practical experience in employment and training policy, the operation of labour markets, and human resource planning and development. IES is a not-for-profit organisation which has over 60 multidisciplinary staff and international associates. IES expertise is available to all organisations through research, consultancy, publications and the Internet.

#### The IES HR Research Network

This report is the product of a study supported by the IES HR Research Network, through which Members finance, and often participate in, applied research on employment issues. Full information on Membership is available from IES on request, or at www.employment-studies.co.uk/network.

# **Contents**

Background	
What is employee engagement?	4
Emotional and rational factors	6
Employee characteristics	7
Drivers of employee engagement	9
Why is engagement important?	12
Reward and engagement	15
Overview	15
Role of rewards	15
Incentives	17
Fair pay	18
Pay satisfaction	19
Total reward	19
Total reward in practice	22
Conclusions	
References	

# Introduction

The term 'employee engagement' has entered the corporate lexicon in the past few years. Mounting evidence indicates that engaged employees – loosely defined as workers who are emotionally committed to their jobs – give better customer service, are more productive and are more willing to go that 'extra mile' for the organisation. According to one study, revenue in organisations with high levels of engaged employees is 6% higher than in those with a less engaged workforce (Higgs, 2006), while US research found that increasing an individual's level of engagement can improve their performance by up to 20% and reduce the probability that they will leave by 87% (Corporate Executive Board (CEB), 2007). Some organisations, notably B&Q, Nationwide Building Society and the Royal Bank of Scotland (RBS), have even developed sophisticated ways of showing how employee engagement drives business performance.

Despite the potential advantages of an engaged workforce, the CIPD (2006a) found that almost two-thirds of UK employees are either only partly engaged or totally disengaged with their work. Although the UK tends to fare better than some other developed economies, such as Australia and the US, the CIPD figures still suggest that a large proportion of workers are either uncommitted or not entirely devoted. Identifying why some employees are more engaged than others and how best to generate higher levels of engagement among the vast majority of workers that inhabit the middle ground between being engaged and disengaged – often called the moderately engaged – is now high on the agenda of many HR professionals. Strengthening engagement among this group of employees, who could quite easily slide toward the wrong end of the engagement scale, is critical.

Research suggests that involvement in the decision-making process, the extent to which employees feel they can contribute ideas and develop in their jobs, and whether or not the organisation is concerned for employees' health and wellbeing are some of the main factors driving engagement (Robinson et al., 2004). Feeling valued and involved also extends to the reward strategy: employees are more likely to be engaged where fairness and transparency underpin how rewards are allocated. Towers Perrin (2005), for example, found that disengaged workers are often negative about the 'employment deal', with many believing that pay programmes are not designed or implemented fairly or consistently, and that few companies truly differentiate between high and mediocre or poor performance when allocating bonuses or other forms of variable pay. Speaking at the CIPD/e-reward conference on reward management in 2005, Duncan Brown also referred to the 'engagement gap', where employees simply do not understand or trust decisions on pay (e-reward, 2005).

The CIPD (2006b) highlighted the importance of a package of various financial and non-financial rewards in generating levels of engagement. The research reported that the 'pay package', consisting of pay, bonuses, share options and benefits, is one of the three elements along with job satisfaction and employability that make up the 'engagement triangle', which organisations need to embrace in its entirety if they are to engage people. A total reward strategy – a mix of extrinsic (financial rewards and benefits) and intrinsic rewards (personal development and working environment) – encompasses all the elements of the triangle and is seen by a number of HR consultants as the most effective way to build engagement. Pay guru Michael Armstrong believes that if people receive both extrinsic and intrinsic rewards, it will foster engagement with the job, commitment to the organisation and positive discretionary behaviour, for example, by staff undertaking more work than is expected of them or tasks outside of their job description (Wilkinson, 2007). An increasing number of companies are embracing total reward as a way of promoting engagement. Utility Centrica defines total reward as a 'mix [of] extrinsic and intrinsic rewards to encourage employees' discretionary effort', for example, while total reward at Nationwide Building Society - which takes in financial rewards as well as learning and development opportunities, work environment, quality of work and leadership behaviours – is geared towards supporting committed and engaged employees.

Employee engagement is not a static thing, but an ongoing process, changing, as individual needs and wants alter. A key characteristic of a total reward strategy (encompassing, as it often does, flexible benefits) is adaptability, which allows employers to offer a mix of rewards based on employee needs and wants at any one time, and to change them to accommodate changing circumstances.

Employees willing to 'go the extra mile' by solving problems, taking the initiative, learning new or better ways of working, and by helping colleagues and customers are likely to be those who find their work challenging and have reasonable autonomy in doing their job. Positive discretionary effort also depends on an organisational culture that fosters openness, allowing employees to express their opinions upwards to their manager and beyond (CIPD, 2006b).

Failure to offer the right set of rewards may lead to disengagement. Disengagement is not a simple mirror image of employee engagement, not least because what turns people off varies just as much as what turns people on, and the part it plays may also vary with circumstances. For example, Towers Perrin (2005) found that 'competitive pay' is a principal attraction driver, but not as important as an engagement driver. Similarly, 'pay' was third behind 'the way the organisation is managed' and 'chances for promotion' in a league of factors having the most impact on work disengagement, according to CIPD research (2006b). And given the importance of equity, workers who perceive that rewards are not fairly allocated or feel their efforts are not properly rewarded will quickly become disengaged.

# **Background**

'An engaged employee is one who is willing and able to contribute to company success. It is not a measure of happiness or satisfaction but the extent to which a person puts discretionary effort into their job, beyond the required minimum to get the job done, in the form of extra time, brainpower or energy. It's about going the extra mile.'

Jim Crawley, principal at Towers Perrin (2005)

#### Overview

Levels of employee engagement across the developed economies are not particularly high. A global study of engagement by Towers Perrin (2005) shows that, on average, only 11% of workers in Europe could be described as 'highly engaged'. The figure for the UK was slightly better at 12%. The CIPD (2006a), which polled a stratified sample of 2,000 employees in Great Britain in July 2006, found a higher level of engagement, with 30% rated as being engaged in their work.

Whichever figure is closer to the true level of engagement in the UK, both surveys indicate that a huge proportion of workers are, at best, only moderately engaged in their work, while a substantial minority is totally disengaged – 65% and 23% respectively in the UK according to Towers Perrin. Is that a problem? There is mounting evidence that engaged employees lead to superior business performance, with studies revealing that high engagement levels are positively correlated with increased sales, rising profitability and improved customer satisfaction. Engaged employees are also less likely to leave or take sick leave, suggesting that by strengthening engagement levels, organisations can save considerable sums on the costs of recruitment and absence.

In order to raise engagement levels, particularly among the large proportion of staff that are only moderately engaged, employers need to understand what engagement is. There are a number of different definitions, but most agree that engagement is a mix of emotional and rational factors relating to work and the overall work experience. These factors determine whether or not an individual is willing and able to give discretionary effort or go the 'extra mile' at work. All definitions and descriptions make it clear that employee engagement is clearly distinguishable from either employee satisfaction or employee commitment.

High levels of engagement will only emerge where the employer gives something in return: employees need to feel valued and involved at work. A reward 'package' (consisting of pay, bonuses, share options and benefits) combined with a working environment that enhances job satisfaction (through achievement, recognition and autonomy, for example) and ample opportunities for development and to be involved in projects that advance a person's career are all part of an engagement 'triangle' that

needs to be implemented in its entirety if organisations are to generate high levels of employee engagement. As much of the triangle depends on the role of line mangers, they are crucially important in raising engagement levels.

# What is employee engagement?

Employee engagement is defined in a variety of ways. A 2006 study from the Conference Board (2006) reported that there had been 12 major studies into employee engagement published in the preceding four years, and each adopted a different definition. As a result, the Conference Board applied its own definition: 'a heightened emotional connection that an employee feels for his or her organisation, that influences him or her to exert greater discretionary effort to his or her work.' Other definitions of employee engagement include:

- 'The measure of people's willingness and ability to give discretionary effort at work' (Towers Perrin, 2005)
- 'Passion for work' (CIPD, 2006b)
- 'An individual's involvement and satisfaction with, as well as enthusiasm for, their work' (Harter et al., 2002a)
- 'The measure of an employee's emotional and intellectual commitment to their organisation and its success' (Hewitt Associates, quoted in Robinson, 2004)
- 'A combination of commitment to the organisation and its values plus a willingness to help out colleagues (organisational citizenship). It goes beyond job satisfaction and is not simply motivation. Engagement is something the employee has to offer: it cannot be "required" as part of the employment contract' (CIPD, 2007a)
- 'A positive attitude held by the employee towards the organisation and its values. An engaged employee is aware of business context, and works with colleagues to improve performance within the job for the benefit of the organisation' (Robinson et al., 2004)
- 'The degree to which workers identify with, are motivated by, and are willing to expend extra effort for their employer' International Survey Research (ISR)
- 'Employee engagement represents an alignment of maximum job satisfaction ("I like my work and do it well") with maximum job contribution ("I help achieve the goals of my organisation"). Engaged employees are not just planning to stick around. They are not just happy or proud. They are enthused and "in gear", using their talents to make a difference in their employer's quest for sustainable business success' (Blessing White, 2006)

The flipside of employee engagement is the requirement for employers to offer something staff want/need in return for them going the extra mile. According to the

CIPD (2006b), staff wants and needs form an 'engagement triangle' made up of the following three elements:

- 'package' consisting of pay, bonuses, share options and benefits
- 'job satisfaction' includes achievement, respect and recognition, autonomy, work– life balance, congruent values and a sense of fun
- 'employability' opportunities for development, involvement in prestige projects and career advancement as well as working for a respected organisation.

Social exchange theory suggests that all human relationships are formed by the use of a subjective cost-benefit analysis and the comparison of alternatives. So, for example, people will generally choose to leave a relationship/job when they perceive that the costs of the relationship outweigh the perceived benefits. Engagement embodies this. Purcell (CIPD, 2006b) notes that there is a reciprocal relationship between perceptions of organisational support provided to employees and their willingness to maximise their performance and that of the organisation.

All definitions and descriptions make it clear that employee engagement is clearly distinguishable from either employee satisfaction or employee commitment. The Royal Bank of Scotland contrasts employee 'engagement' with 'commitment' and 'satisfaction'. Whereas an employee's satisfaction is defined as 'how much I like working here' and their commitment as 'how much I want to be here', engagement is described as 'how much I want to and actually do improve our [RBS] business results' (Cowan, 2006). Paul Turner, general manager for people at West Bromwich Building Society, which has implemented an employee engagement strategy, told IRS that though the terms 'satisfaction' and 'engagement' are often used interchangeably, there are important differences: whereas satisfaction can be highly influenced by factors outside the organisation's control and can fluctuate greatly, engagement is more consistent and influenced more by internal factors, such as leadership, communication and involvement (Suff, 2006a).

Nonetheless, Robinson et al. (2004) say that employee engagement has similarities to, and overlaps with, some types of commitment. According to these authors, of the different types of commitment, the closest relationship with engagement is 'affective' commitment, which emphasises the satisfaction people get from their jobs and colleagues as well as a willingness to go beyond the call of duty for the good of the organisation. Affective commitment also recognises the two-way nature of the engagement relationship, in so far as employers are expected to provide a supportive working environment. This kind of commitment contrasts with 'structural' commitment, which is linked more to the transactional nature of the employment relationship. Robinson et al. also note the similarities between engagement and organisational citizenship behaviour (OCB), such as helpfulness, loyalty, compliance and initiative. However, the authors acknowledge that engagement is not a perfect match with either commitment or OCB: indeed this might be why is has such descriptive value for employers.

#### Emotional and rational factors

Towers Perrin (2003 and 2005) says that employee engagement involves both emotional and rational factors relating to work and the overall work experience. According to the firm, emotional items relate to people's personal satisfaction and sense of inspiration and affirmation they get from their work and being part of an organisation, while rational factors relate to the relationship between the individual and the broader organisation. To put these into perspective, Towers Perrin (2005) says that how strongly individuals agree with emotional-based statements – such as 'My job provides me with a sense of personal accomplishment' – and rational-based assertions – for example, 'I am willing to put in a great deal of effort beyond what is normally expected to help my organisation succeed' – provide a measure of their engagement.

The CIPD (2007) says that engagement has three dimensions. These are:

- emotional being very involved emotionally in one's work
- cognitive focusing very hard while at work
- physical being willing to 'go the extra mile' for your employer.

Baumruk (2004) also talks about employee engagement in terms of individual emotional as well as intellectual commitment to the organisation, with the following three attributes central to his definition:

- engaged employees are passionate advocates for their workplace, consistently speaking positively about the organisation to colleagues and customers
- engaged employees have a strong desire to be a member of the organisation, despite opportunities to work elsewhere
- engaged employees routinely go above and beyond, exerting extra effort to produce extraordinary results.

Similarly, Harter et al. (2002b) refer to employee engagement as a combination of cognitive and emotional antecedent variables in the workplace, while Kahn (1990) found that employees become more cognitively and emotionally engaged when their basic needs are met. Accordingly, the positive emotions that result when basic needs are provided in the workplace serve to broaden employees' attention, cognition and action in areas related to the welfare of the business (Harter et al., 2002b). Basic needs include clarity of expectations (so outcomes that have to be achieved are clear) together with having the basic materials and equipment to do the job. If expectations are unclear and basic materials and equipment not provided, negative emotions, such as boredom or resentment, emerge that can ultimately cause disengagement. The inclusion of cognitive and emotional features in the engagement paradigm led Jones (2005) to conclude that it is a broader concept than job satisfaction.

Harter et al. (2002b) also note that employees need to feel that they are contributing to the organisation. This is best achieved if they have the opportunity to do what they do best in their job. The authors quote one employee, who said: 'I like working in a company where my talents, knowledge and skill are understood and put to good use and respected.' Another factor in generating positive emotions among employees is frequent and immediate recognition for good work, often encouraging them to think about how they could contribute more. Positive emotions at work are also generated by strong friendships with colleagues and an environment that provides ample opportunities for individuals to discuss their progress and develop their skills.

Fredickson (2001) has championed the view that positive emotions lead to good functioning, now and in the future as individuals become better at developing responses/resources to deal with specific situations. At an organisational level, the creative potential stemming from positive emotions can lead directly to increased productivity, profitability and customer satisfaction. In the CIPD (2006b) report Reflections on employee engagement, Nic Marks analyses survey evidence examining both positive emotions (feeling enthusiastic, cheerful, optimistic, content, clam and relaxed) and negative emotions (feeling tense, miserable, depressed, worried, uneasy and gloomy), and their relationship with different work performance indicators, such as job satisfaction, cognitive engagement (absorbed in work tasks), physical engagement (commitment to completing task) and loyalty. The author found that negative emotions undermine performance in these areas, while positive emotions support good performance, albeit to differing degrees.

Baumeister and Leary (1995) believe a sense of belonging is an important element of employee engagement and a basic human need. Involving staff in workplace decisions can enhance a sense of belonging and encourage interest in the organisation. According to Wrzesniewski et al. (1997), employees who are able to connect what they do with the organisation's mission or purpose tend to have higher levels of interest in the business as well as ownership of organisational outcomes.

Jones (2005) notes that one common theme running through the engagement literature is the notion that desire and/or willingness to participate are fundamental components of engaged behaviour. Indeed, Finn (1989) characterises engagement as a multidimensional construct, including compliant/non-compliant behaviour (ie willingness) and initiative-taking behaviour (ie desire). A further variable is business performance, with higher levels of engagement often associated with business success (Harter, 2000).

## **Employee characteristics**

Research suggests that personal characteristics influence levels of engagement, indicating that engagement is not a static thing but is susceptible to changes in personal circumstances and the working environment. Towers Perrin (2005) notes that people want different things from their company at different stages of their employment life cycle. The corollary is that employers can no longer apply a 'onesize-fits-all' approach in their reward and other HR strategies. For example, high levels of engagement have been found among older workers, and may be bolstered further where an organisation is proactive is preparing and supporting them as they near retirement, while engagement among those in their 40s and 50s could be increased if employers help them to find a better balance between work and home life – something this age group finds particularly hard to achieve.

According to the CIPD (2006a), women are generally more engaged with their work than men, and older workers are more engaged than younger employees. Among its other findings, the institute's 2006 survey found that:

- around 25% of under-35s report feeling engaged compared with 40% of over-35s
- workers aged 55 or older are more engaged than younger employees and also take less sick leave
- women are more engaged with their work than men and more satisfied; they feel more positively about their senior management team and are more loyal
- women work shorter hours, are happier with their work-life balance, and feel they get more support in this than do men
- employees who are happy with their work–life balance are more engaged with their work than those who are unhappy with their work–life balance
- women, employees over 55 years of age, part-time workers and those working in small organisations are happier with their work–life balance than others
- managers are significantly more engaged with their work than non-managers
- managers feel more positive about communication and involvement and feel they have more support and recognition and are listened to more than non-managers
- more public sector workers find their work worthwhile and personally meaningful compared with private sector employees.

In their examination of engagement in an NHS organisation, Robinson et al. (2004) also looked at the personal characteristics that may impact on levels of engagement. Unlike the CIPD research, the authors found no difference in engagement scores between men and women, though they also discovered differences between age groups, specifically that older employees (those aged 60 or more) have the highest levels of engagement. Robinson et al. also report:

- higher engagement levels among ethnic employees than their white colleagues
- employees with carer responsibilities have significantly lower levels of engagement than those with no such responsibilities
- workers with a disability/medical condition have lower engagement levels than those who do not have such a condition.

The NHS study also revealed that though older workers tend to be more engaged than their younger colleagues, this is not necessarily the case if workers remain with one organisation. According to the study, engagement levels decline as length of service increases. Robinson et al. (2004) say the reasons for the relatively low engagement levels among long-serving staff may include career frustration (passed over for promotion), boredom (job has become routine), cynicism (seen it all before) and perhaps disappointment (with themselves and/or the organisation).

## Drivers of employee engagement

The strongest driver of engagement is a sense of feeling valued and involved, according to IES research (Robinson et al., 2004). The engagement model they developed shows the main drivers of employment engagement and focuses on measures that increase perceptions of involvement in, and value to, the organisation. These are:

- employees are involved in decision making
- employer demonstrates concern about employees' health and wellbeing
- senior managers show employees that they value them
- employees feel able to voice opinions
- good suggestions are acted upon
- employees have the opportunity to develop their jobs
- managers listen to employees.

IES (Robinson et al., 2004) has also produced a list of the main drivers of employee engagement among staff in an NHS organisation, with each one rated for its degree of importance. In descending order, the drivers were:

- training, development and career
- immediate management
- performance and appraisal
- communication
- equal opportunities and fair treatment
- pay and benefits
- health and safety
- cooperation
- family friendliness
- job satisfaction.

Robinson et al. also suggest the following areas are of fundamental importance to engagement:

Good quality line management – managers who:

- □ care about their staff
- □ keep them informed
- □ treat them fairly
- encourage them to perform well
- □ take an interest in their career aspirations
- □ smooth the path to training and development opportunities.
- Two-way, open communication where employees are able to voice ideas and suggest better ways of working; where employees are kept informed about things that affect them.
- Effective cooperation within the organisation.
- Employee development organisation takes development seriously, delivering training that staff need now as well as providing fair access to further development opportunities.
- Employee wellbeing a commitment to wellbeing that is demonstrated by taking health and safety seriously, including actively working to minimise accidents, etc.
- Policies clear, accessible people-management policies and practices, particularly in relation to appraisals, equal opportunities and work–life balance. Both line and senior mangers must be committed to such policies.
- Pay and benefits fairness, both within and outside the organisation, in the distribution of financial and non-financial rewards.
- Working environment one that encourages harmony, with staff having respect for, and a willingness to help, each other.

The CIPD (2006a) provides similar findings, reporting that the main drivers of engagement are:

- having opportunities to feed your view upwards
- feeling well informed about what is happening in the organisation
- thinking that your manager is committed to your organisation.

The Conference Board's (2006) examination of 12 studies into employee engagement found that around a quarter agreed that the following are the eight key drivers of engagement:

- trust and integrity how well managers communicate and 'walk the talk'
- nature of the job is the work mentally stimulating on a day-to-day basis?
- line of sight between employee performance and company performance does the employee understand how their work contributes to the company's performance?
- career growth opportunities are there future opportunities for growth?
- pride in the company how much self-esteem does the employee feel by being associated with their company?
- colleagues significantly influences individual levels of engagement
- employee development is the company making an effort to develop the employee's skills?
- relationship with manager does the employee value his/her relationship with their manager?

Where an organisation pursues a strategy to enhance engagement levels, it tends to concentrate on improving management behaviour, involvement and communication. The engagement strategy at West Bromwich Building Society, for example, focuses on leadership, management style, communication, involvement and the employer brand (Suff, 2006a).

Numerous studies reinforce the idea that line management in particular is central to engagement. The CIPD (2005), for example, notes that the high-performance business model emphasises the important role of line managers in releasing employees' discretionary behaviour, while a later study from the institute (CIPD, 2006a) reported that staff with positive views about their managers (and senior managers) are the most engaged with their work, perform better and are less likely to quit. Tritch (2003) reports that variation in engagement levels from site to site in the same organisation (in this case B&Q) was due to differences in the skills/behaviour of managers. The Conference Board (2006) found that all 12 of the engagement studies it examined agreed that employees' relationship with their line manager is the strongest of all engagement drivers. At a senior level, leadership is the key to engagement. Hay Group (2001) estimates that between 50% and 70% of an organisation's climate, such as how it feels to work in the organisation and the atmosphere in the workplace, can be traced to organisational leadership. Basically, good leadership creates a good working environment, while poor leadership creates a poor climate.

Most of the proprietary questionnaires used by consultancies to measure levels of engagement tend to focus on views on management behaviour and leadership. West Bromwich Building Society has used Hemsley Fraser's 9Factors Employee

Commitment Survey since 2000 (Suff, 2006a). It contains 36 questions, including: 'Does your manager treat people in a way that makes them feel valued?' 'Are work meetings effective and valuable?' BT's annual CARE (Communications and Attitude Research for Employees) survey was developed by the consultancy Kenexa and includes the following statements, with employees indicating whether or not they agree: 'My manager actively promotes safe working behaviours' and 'My manager is supportive if I have to take time off for home/family emergencies' (BT, 2007). DIY retailer B&Q has used the Q<sup>12</sup> survey from Gallup since 2000. According to the market research organisation, Q12 focuses on the 12 'universal' employee needs that, when met, evoke strong feelings of engagement, including aspects that can be influenced by supervisors, such as recognition and communication (Tritch, 2003). And, at Centrica, the annual employee survey uses a zero to five scale to measure employee engagement in five key areas, including 'management impact' as well as 'me as an individual', 'customer focus', 'leadership' and 'performance and development' (Centrica, 2006).

# Why is engagement important?

There is clear and mounting evidence that high levels of employee engagement improve organisational performance in a number of areas. A great deal of research (for example, Heskett et al. 1997; Koys, 2001), particularly in the retail sector, has looked at the impact of employee commitment/behaviour on sales/customer satisfaction. Most has found a favourable correlation, with high levels of employee commitment/satisfaction/engagement associated with increasing sales and customer satisfaction levels and lower levels of employee absence. Harter et al. (2002a) have conducted one of the largest studies into the link between employee perceptions and business performance. Their meta-analysis of almost 8,000 work units in 36 companies found small but significant correlations between productivity and profitability and employee engagement. They also found that engagement was also positively associated with customer satisfaction. Research, in the UK retail sector, by IES showed conclusively that employee commitment had a direct impact on sales as well as improved customer loyalty and employee attendance. 'Broadly speaking, as employee commitment increased, sales went up; in addition, employee absence decreased, while customer satisfaction and customer spending intention increased, causing sales to go up even more,' report Barber et al. (1999). This supported the famous service-profit chain research conducted at Sears (Rucci et al., 1998).

In pure financial terms, Higgs (2006) says that a 5% increase in employee satisfaction will produce a 3% rise in customer satisfaction and a 0.25% increase in shareholder value, while companies with high levels of employee engagement generate 6% more revenue than organisations with lower levels of engagement. Towers Perrin/ISR (2007) report substantial increases in operating margin and net-profit margin in organisations with highly engaged staff. The consultancy compared high-engagement to low-engagement companies over three years and found that the operating margin

in the former was 3.74% higher than the average, while the net-profit margin was more than 2% higher. By contrast, the operating margin and net-profit margin in lowengagement firms were 2% and 1.38% below the average respectively. The examination by the Conference Board (2006) of 12 separate studies of employee engagement found that, though performance differences between engaged and disengaged staff varied from study to study, on average highly engaged employees outperform their disengaged colleagues by between 20% and 28%. US research found that increasing an individual's level of engagement can improve their performance by up to 20% (CEB, 2007). And, Whiteley (2006) quotes the group head of human capital management at Standard Chartered Bank, which has been measuring engagement levels since 2000, as saying: 'We have found that bank branches with high levels of engagement outperform those with weaker engagement on a range of measures, including revenue and profit margin growth.'

In terms of HR measures, the CIPD (2006a) found that engaged employees take less sick leave and are less likely to leave than disengaged employees. It also says that engaged employees are more likely to act as organisational advocates than disengaged colleagues, so may have a powerful role to play in promoting the company as an employer of choice. The CEB (2007) research reported that by raising individual levels of engagement, firms reduce the probability that staff will leave by 87%.

Other reported benefits from engaged employees include lower staff turnover – engaged employees are 87% less likely to leave (Corporate Leadership Council, 2004); improved safety performance (Vance, 2006) and improved customer service (Salanova et al., 2005).

#### Case studies

#### **B&O**

The DIY retailer has been measuring employee engagement at its 320-plus UK stores since 2000, believing that high employee commitment and satisfaction translates to better customer service, which in turn drives higher profits (Wustemann, 2003). Twice a year all employees receive a card with a personal identification number and are asked to call an automated voice-response phone line within two weeks to record their answers to Gallup's 12 engagement questions (the Q<sup>12</sup>). The process is voluntary and between 80% and 90% of B&Q's 39,000-strong workforce usually take part. Gallup processes the data and returns the results to B&Q's senior management within four weeks. Store managers and team leaders then receive a local/regional breakdown of the figures. Managers' bonuses are linked to engagement scores.

According to the company, there are now 5.4 engaged staff for every actively disengaged employee (Personnel Today, 2007). The company has recently sought to raise engagement levels further throughout the business, and it says that as a result, like-for-like sales since 2005 have increased from -8.8% to +1.4%, while its mystery shopper score has risen from 65% in February 2005 to 80.4% in January 2007.

#### Centrica

As part of its drive to become an employer of choice, Centrica has been seeking to raise employee engagement levels (Wolff, 2005). In 2003, the utility firm changed its focus from employee satisfaction to employee engagement, believing that engagement drives satisfaction and is a major influence on profitability. The company conducts an employee engagement survey, consisting of 23 core questions, each year. It uses a zero to five scale to measure engagement in five key areas: 'me as an individual', 'management impact', 'customer focus', 'leadership' and 'performance and development'. Managers' bonuses are linked to team engagement scores. Managers and local teams are responsible for analysing their own results, looking for strengths and weaknesses within their own areas and developing action plans to increase engagement levels.

According to the company, in 2006 86% of employees participated in the survey and the overall engagement score increased by 2%, despite what the firm describes as a 'very challenging period for the business' (Centrica, 2006). The company says the improvement in the score was mainly because of a strong showing in the 'management impact' category, with 79% of participants saying they are satisfied with their relationship with their line manager. The 2006 results also show that 77% of respondents are aware of how people's work affects Centrica's performance; 80% know their objectives; 77% say their managers hold regular team meetings; and 75% feel they have a manager who cares.

#### **Nationwide Building Society**

Since 2002, the Nationwide has been running its Genome project, looking at the links between employee engagement, customer commitment and business performance (Suff, 2005). 'We now have proof that improved employee commitment translates into better business performance,' says John Lenihan, personnel consultant, data modelling, who heads up the project. After analysing the results of 'Viewpoint', its staff survey, and customer satisfaction and branch performance data, the building society was able to isolate the five main influences - pay, length of service, coaching, resource management and values - on the commitment levels of its workforce. Nationwide found that fairness and transparency in employees' pay, longer length of service, having the right person in the right place at the right time, and training and development opportunities are all important to staff engagement levels. The organisation's value system - its PRIDE common goals (putting members first, rising to the challenge, inspiring confidence, delivering best value and exceeding expectations) - is the other key influence. A simulator allows the building society to accurately estimate the level of improvement in its business performance from raising employee engagement in one area. 'We can now determine the biggest return from our HR-related expenditure,' says Lenihan. For example, increasing the average length of service across the organisation by one year will raise the value derived from mortgage sales by £5.6 million.

Results of Nationwide's 2006 employee survey show an overall employee satisfaction score of 77% (proportion of employees giving a positive response) (Nationwide Building Society).

# Reward and engagement

### Overview

Reward is not the number one driver of engagement, but it has an important role to play. Rewards are the most visible measure of how much an organisation values someone. Most people will compare what they earn with others doing similar work. If the rewards being offered are not comparable, employees are likely to feel they are of little value to the organisation and seek alternative employment. But is it not just pay levels that may raise doubts among individuals about how much they are valued. Of more importance is how pay decisions are determined. Studies have shown that employees tend to be more concerned with fairness and equity than with levels of pay. Employees want to know that, even if their own level of pay is less than others, the process for allocating rewards is fair and transparent, and they can trust the people making the decisions.

Elements of the reward package have a greater impact on engagement levels than others, and how much effect each one has often depends on individual circumstances, such as their personalities, preferences, stage of life and role in the organisation. So an organisation needs a reward strategy that is flexible enough to appeal to different people at different periods in their lives. It needs, for example, to accommodate within the same reward system a competitive starting salary and development opportunities for recent graduates, as well as enhance the pension benefits and flexible working opportunities for employees close to retirement. Total reward is becoming the preferred reward strategy for organisations wanting the build or strengthen engagement.

Total reward consists of tangible or transactional rewards, such as pay and benefits, and intangible or relational ones, like learning and development opportunities and a good work environment. It is not a 'one-size-fits-all' approach, but offers organisations the flexibility to vary the reward mix, tailoring it to specific employee groups, individuals or business units.

## Role of rewards

If, as Robinson et al. (2004) suggest, one half of securing engagement is to ensure employees feel valued, then one of the biggest measures of value is the financial rewards afforded employees. Pay communicates a sense of how much the organisation values an employee (Gardner et al., 2004). Individuals will compare pay levels both inside and outside the organisation, believing that comparable jobs should attract similar levels of compensation. Research suggests that it is people's perception of their tangible rewards vis-à-vis others that is the key to the impact of rewards on levels of engagement. There is also evidence that rewards are more important, if not

the critical factor, when employees are not engaged (Harter et al., 2002b). According to Towers Perrin (2005), which in 2005 polled more than 86,000 workers in 16 countries to assess engagement levels, employees are more concerned with fairness and equity than with levels of pay. The study revealed that only 27% of respondents believe that the criterion for determining salary and wage levels is fair and consistent in their organisation. And less than a third (32%) give a favourable response to the statement: 'I am fairly compensated compared to others doing similar work in my organisation.'

Although reward is not in itself always a key factor in engaging staff, there is evidence that the lack of appropriate financial rewards or a fair way of distributing rewards can be the source of disengagement. Similarly, Dilys Robinson, speaking at a joint CIPD/e-reward pay conference, commented that getting pay wrong – for example, withdrawing benefits, failing to promote or allocating bonuses unfairly – has a huge impact and is very disengaging, as these aspects of working life are held as proxies of the extent to which the organisation values the individual (e-reward, 2005). Towers Perrin (2005) found that disengaged workers are often negative about the 'employment deal', with many believing that pay programmes are not designed or implemented fairly or consistently, and that few companies truly differentiate between high and mediocre or poor performance when allocating bonuses or other forms of variable pay. Duncan Brown, former assistant director general at the CIPD, has also referred to the 'engagement gap', where employees simply do not understand or trust decisions on pay (e-reward, 2005).

Analysis of the Towers Perrin (2005) data reveals that 'competitive base salary' is the third most important feature, behind 'challenging work' and 'work-life balance,' that attracts people to an organisation/job. However, financial rewards tend to only have a short-term influence on engagement. The consultancy concluded that the 'things that attract people to a job are not the same as the elements that engage them and persuade them to perform consistently well'. Its data for the UK shows that though 'competitive pay' is the number one attraction driver, pay does not feature at all in the top 10 engagement drivers. Harter et al. (2002b) note that monetary satisfiers can be easily matched or topped by other organisations, so organisations need to rely on more than rewards to generate engagement.

The CIPD (2006b) highlighted the importance of a package of various financial and non-financial rewards in generating levels of engagement. Its research reported that a 'pay package', consisting of pay, bonuses, share options and benefits, is one of the three elements along with job satisfaction and employability that make up the 'engagement triangle', which organisations need to embrace in its entirety if they are to engage people. Jensen et al. (2006) believe it is the intangible rewards, such as good job design, career development opportunities, recognition of good performance and the provision of regular feedback, rather than tangible, monetary rewards, that have an enormous influence on engagement levels. Intangible rewards are also the hardest things for competitors to duplicate, making it less attractive to leave. Reward expert

Michael Armstrong says that if people receive both extrinsic and intrinsic rewards, it will foster engagement with the job, commitment to the organisation and positive discretionary behaviour, for example, by staff undertaking more work than is expected of them or tasks outside of their job description (Wilkinson, 2007). Centrica, Nationwide Building Society and the Royal Bank of Scotland (RBS) are just three of an increasing number of UK companies employing a mix of extrinsic and intrinsic rewards to encourage employees' 'discretionary effort' and build engagement.

Financial rewards should not be dismissed as an effective way to boost engagement, however. Where incentives, for example, are used innovatively, so that individuals can do what they do best to boost their own rewards, and employees are clear about what is expected of them, then financial rewards can improve engagement. As Harter et al. point out: 'Providing employees [with] the opportunity to expand their monetary rewards – by clarifying outcomes, providing material support to achieve the best rewards, and putting them in positions in which they can do what they do best and contribute to the organisation – expands the chance for positive emotions to occur more frequently.' According to Jim Cowan at RBS, engagement is a key principle underlying the bank's approach to the design of reward programmes. He acknowledges that the impact of a good manager is significantly greater in driving engagement than reward. However, because the impact of good managers is limited by their narrow spans of control, he says reward done well can drive engagement across the whole organisation (2006).

## Incentives

It seems reasonable to suppose that pay incentives affect employee behaviour and thence organisational performance. Indeed, in some functions, like sales, incentive pay is the norm because the 'effort-reward bargain' is assumed to work.

Research support for this notion exists. Huselid and Rau (1997) found that firms in more profitable industries were more likely to adopt the incentive and performance management elements of high-performance working. A meta analysis by Kling (quoted in Bosworth 2005) on US studies, and research by Ashton and Sung (2002), confirmed the finding that compensation linked to either worker or firm performance lifted labour productivity. Guest (2000) also found that individual performancerelated pay was one of 18 key practices associated with high performance or high commitment management. And there is much more research besides.

However, the latest insights into the people–performance link (Tamkin 2005 and et al., 2008 and Bryson, 2007) suggest that:

if such reward practices are to be effective, they must be part of a bundle of HR activities that are mutually reinforcing

- the most powerful of these reward elements are mechanisms such as gainsharing, profit sharing or share schemes, ie those approaches that share the value created for the organisation by employees
- individual performance-related pay schemes have in themselves only a neutral impact on organisational performance.

We should not take this research to mean that performance-related pay does not work, rather that it will deliver in some circumstances – that is, among particular employment groups where targets can be easily and objectively measured, and where employees are influenced by extrinsic motivators. For others, reward plays a part, but less as an incentive and more as a tool of recognition – to acknowledge employee contribution.

# Fair pay

Fairness has long been seen as an important element in how employees respond to pay systems. For example, Adams published research in 1965 where he found that people are better motivated if they feel they are being treated equitably and consistently, and de-motivated if they perceive that the opposite is occurring. Adams describes two forms of equity: distributive equity – individuals' perceptions about how they are treated and rewarded compared to others; and procedural equity – individuals' perceptions of the fairness of the process of setting pay.

Jacques (1961) had already developed a 'felt-fair' principle, which means a pay system will only be considered fair if employees feel it is. His approach is based on the following assumptions:

- an unrecognised standard exists of what is fair pay for a given level of work
- a workforce has an unconscious knowledge of the standard
- pay is only 'felt fair' if it matches the level of work and the capacity of individuals to do it
- employees feel pay unfair when they receive less than they deserve by comparison with their colleagues.

(Brown and Armstrong, 1999)

Armstrong (1999) has therefore argued that an 'equitable reward system ensures that relative worth is measured as objectively as possible, that the measurement processes are analytical, and that they provide a framework for making defensible judgments about job values and grading'.

Given this background it is not surprising that fairness, particularly internal equity, has played a central role in pay determination for many years (Suff and Reilly, 2007). The most recent CIPD (2007b) reward survey reveals that almost half of participating organisations still regard internal fairness or equity as an important goal for their reward strategy. Towers Perrin's global study of engagement levels concluded that employees are more concerned with fairness and equity than with levels of pay (Towers Perrin, 2005). The research suggests that employees generally are realistic about pay and tend to have an accurate view of how their remuneration compares with pay levels in other organisations. Annette Cox, when at the Manchester Business School, also reported that staff tend to be more concerned about how pay decisions are made than who gets what (e-reward, 2005). Harter et al. (2002b) argue that employees who are heavily underpaid relative to others they perceive as being in similar jobs are likely to be disengaged and place more importance on pay than staff who perceive their pay to be similar to that of comparable workers elsewhere. Heneman and Judge (2000) also discovered that the process of setting pay was more important than the actual level of pay.

## Pay satisfaction

This is a closely related concept to fair pay because it draws upon the same insights. One of the clearest expositions of the importance of pay satisfaction was research commissioned by the US WorldAtWork. This showed that pay satisfaction can lead to employee engagement, but for satisfaction to be present, employees had to feel comfortable with their pay levels and, as we have said, with the process of its determination, but also they had to have knowledge with how pay is constructed. Brown and Armstrong (1999) make it clear that transparency is crucial, believing that people are more likely to feel they are rewarded fairly if they understand the basis upon which pay decisions affecting them are made.

## Total reward

Although fairness and equity in pay decisions is a prerequisite for preventing disengagement, highly engaged staff expect more in terms of rewards than levels of pay that are comparable to those of people in similar jobs. It is increasingly acknowledged that, though necessary for recruitment and retention, financial rewards alone are unlikely to deliver employee behaviours that really add extra value, and engender the attitude required for an employee to voluntarily commit to going the extra mile at work (Bloom and Milkovich, 1998). Total reward – which includes all types of financial and non-financial rewards, as well as both direct and indirect rewards, such as career development – is increasingly seen as being the best reward strategy to underpin employee engagement. Hay Group's Helen Murlis told delegates to a joint CIPD/e-reward conference that because people go to work for a wide range of reasons that arise from their personalities, preference, stage of life and role in the organisation, they have diverse engagement factors (e-reward, 2005). 'If you don't take account of these, you're unlikely to get high performance with any reward mechanism that you introduce. Total reward is therefore an important consideration,' she added.

The CIPD (2007c) defines total reward as a term to 'describe a reward strategy that brings additional components, such as learning and development, together with aspects of the working environment, into the benefits package. It goes beyond standard remuneration by embracing the company culture, and is aimed at giving all employees a voice in the operation, with the employer in return receiving an engaged employee performance.' Armstrong and Murlis (2004) define total reward as a 'value proposition, which embraces everything that people value in the employment relationship and is developed and implemented as a coherent whole'. Organisations that have embraced a total reward approach define it in a similar way. Nationwide Building Society, for example, describes total reward as 'a mixture of pay elements, with a defined cash value, benefits which have an intrinsic value, a positive work environment, and opportunities for learning and development', while Unilever says it 'encompasses all the elements of "what it means to come to work".

Pfeffer (1998) says the rationale for total reward is 'creating a fun, challenging and empowered work environment in which individuals are able to use their abilities to do meaningful jobs for which they are shown appreciation is likely to be a more certain way to enhance motivation and performance – even though creating such an environment may be more difficult and take more time than simply turning the reward lever'.

Brown and Armstrong (1999) present a total reward model that consists of tangible or transactional rewards (pay and benefits) and intangible or relational ones (learning and development and the work environment). The various elements are:

- pay base pay, annual bonuses, long-term incentives, shares and profit-sharing
- benefits pensions, holidays, perks and flexibility
- learning and development training, on-the-job learning, performance management, career development and succession planning
- work environment organisation culture, leadership, communications, involvement, work-life balance and non-financial recognition.

Similarly, the Hay Group has developed the 'Engaged Performance Model', which embraces both tangible rewards – described as everything from base salary and performance pay to share schemes and benefits tailored to individual needs – and the more intrinsic rewards, such as autonomy and work-life balance as well as effective leadership and management style. The model consists of the following six clusters, each of which employers can analyse to determine where employees' priorities lie:

#### a. Inspiration/values

- reputation of organisation
- organisational values and behaviours
- □ quality of leadership

		risk sharing	
		recognition	
		communication	
b.	o. Quality of work		
		perception of the value of work	
		challenge/interest	
		opportunities for achievement	
		freedom and autonomy	
		workload	
		quality of work relationship	
c.	Enab	ling environment	
		physical environment	
		tools and equipment	
		job training (current position)	
		information and processes	
		safety/personal security	
d.	Tang	Tangible rewards	
		competitive pay	
		good benefits	
		incentives for higher performance	
		ownership potential	
		recognition awards	
		fairness of reward	
e.	Worl	k–life balance	
		supportive environment	
		recognition of life cycle needs/flexibility	
		security of income	
		social support	
f.	Futu	re growth/opportunity	
		learning and development beyond current job	
		career advancement opportunities	
		performance improvement and feedback	

All of these will be important to some employees, but they will not be equally important and their importance will differ at times during the person's employment life cycle. Total reward is not a 'one-size-fits-all' approach, but offers organisations the flexibility to vary the reward mix, tailoring it to specific employee groups, individuals or business units. So, for example, an organisation is free, on the one hand, to combine a competitive starting salary and development opportunities for recent graduates, while, on the other, enhance pension benefits and flexible working for employees close to retirement. The emphasis on flexibility and fit with personal choice makes flexible benefits an obvious and, perhaps, the easiest manifestation of total reward.

### Total reward in practice

Certainly, total reward is proving popular as organisations strive to build engagement. The most recent reward survey from the CIPD (2007b) finds that 41% of the organisations polled have adopted a total reward approach, while a further 32% reported planning to take this approach in the next 12 months. The survey suggests that total reward is being adopted across the private and voluntary sectors, but practice lags behind somewhat in the public sector. This is rather surprising given that the public sector is more constrained in its ability to use pay to attract, retain and motivate. A conscious approach to emphasising the non-financial rewards on offer would seem to be sensible. Indeed, the Cabinet Office developed a total reward model based on the Hay methodology.

However, it has to be acknowledged that total reward is a strategy that may fail. This may be because it fails to meet all of the criteria set out by Thompson (2002) in describing the characteristics of a total reward strategy. These are that it should be:

- holistic focuses on how the organisation attracts, retains and motivates employees to contribute to success using an array of financial and non-financial rewards
- best fit tailored to the organisation's culture and work processes
- integrative the reward system is integrated with HR policies and practices
- strategic aligns reward and business strategies
- people-centred focuses on employee needs and wants
- customised provides a flexible mix of reward that offers choice
- distinctive uses rewards to create a distinctive employer brand
- evolutionary long-term, incremental approach.

Problems in particular occur when organisations use off-the-shelf models of total reward (thereby failing the distinctiveness and best fit tests); are more dominated by spin than substances (for example, not offering 'customised' choice); or are just an HR fad disconnected from the needs of the business (ie it is not strategic). In such circumstances, total reward is not really part of a 'holistic' approach to people

management but just a management trick to inflate the nature of the rewards on offer. This is why trade unionists are often sceptical about total reward, preferring the solidity of extra pay to the perceived ephemera of a buzzword.

The obvious solution for employers is indeed to go beyond the rhetoric to ensure that total reward is a meaningful concept and speaks to the variety of real elements in the employment proposition. Some of these may be hard to describe or give too much publicity to, but organisations should be aware of what attracts people to their workplace and keeps them there in a motivated way.

#### Case studies

#### Cisco Systems

Reward at Cisco is not viewed as a single concept; the company's approach is a holistic one, consisting of many interconnected threads - both financial and non-financial - linked to the company's business aims (IRS, 2001). It is also a flexible approach, allowing the company to alter its people management practices as circumstances change. Cisco offers a diverse package of pay, benefits and amenities. There is a strong performance theme to compensation, so employees have the opportunity to both contribute and share in the company's success. Variable pay (for example, a cash bonus scheme linked to individual performance, customer satisfaction and corporate performance) is an element of the remuneration of all employees, while staff can acquire a stake in the firm through its employee stock purchase scheme and approved share option plan. The firm's benefits package is basically the same for all staff, regardless of seniority. Its non-financial rewards - which the company believes helps to build long-term commitment include intrinsic motivators that are inherent in the job itself. For example, staff are encouraged to increase their autonomy by improving their levels of knowledge, skills and competencies. Fostering a positive culture characterised by a hands-off, but supportive, management style underpins it total reward strategy.

#### First Choice Airways

The Manchester-based airline decided to alter its reward strategy for its pilot workforce after a survey revealed they were feeling undervalued (Suff, 2006b). Its new 'total reward' strategy covers almost every aspect of the employment experience, ranging from direct communication and consultation practices to work-life balance opportunities. The key elements of the overall reward offer include:

- competitive base pay
- two final-salary pension schemes
- a money-purchase pension scheme
- free medical checks
- private medical insurance
- concessions (£1,000 a year to spend on First Choice holidays, plus an option to buy further holidays on a tax-efficient basis

- free uniforms
- duty and subsistence allowances
- share plans (based on internal measures of performance)
- voluntary benefits (for example, childcare vouchers and other insurance)
- generous leave entitlement (pilots have 37 days' annual leave).

A new incentive bonus scheme aims to encourage greater engagement with the firm's goals by incorporating a performance measure of average flying hours of pilots. The firm has also introduced greater opportunities for pilots to exercise more control over the balance between work and home life - something that emerged as a key reward issue following consultation with pilots. In addition, First Choice has established more direct and two-way communication practices. As well as base visits, where pilots have the opportunity to interact with board members, the company now conducts an annual survey (Pilot Voice) exclusively among its pilot workforce.

#### **Nationwide Building Society**

The mutual financial services business operates what it calls a total remuneration package (Suff, 2004). It is a mix of cash and non-cash elements, including pay, benefits, training and development and a high-quality working environment. Paul Bissell, senior manager, rewards, describes the reward proposition at Nationwide as something akin to a Swiss army knife: 'On one level, it provides an overall view of the strategic activities that the company needs to engage in. Total reward is also a basic tool to support our communications framework, and it integrates our reward activities with the overall personnel and development infrastructure. It is also a key lever used to reinforce Nationwide's cultural values.'

The following elements make up the building society's total reward system:

- base pay (as good or better than competitors')
- relevant and valued benefits with the flexibility to tailor them to individual needs
- variable pay linked to contribution
- a share in the society's success
- recognition and loyalty
- salary progression to help recruit and then accelerate pay to market levels
- reward principles that are understood and linked to the society's core values
- equal pay
- competitive pension arrangements
- work-life balance programme
- training and development opportunities
- a culture and working environment that engages staff.

The remuneration mix is as follows: fixed pay (base pay, salary progression, etc.) is 66.8%; benefits (allowances, healthcare, pensions, cars, etc.) account for 22%; and variable pay (employee bonus, other bonuses, recognition pay, etc.) make up 11.2%. The organisation's value system - its 'PRIDE' common goals (putting members first, rising to the challenge, inspiring confidence, delivering best value and exceeding expectations) - is supported by the reward framework, with managers allowed to reward (for example, personalised gifts, vouchers or cinema tickets) individual employees for exceptional conduct and loyalty. Organisational values are also reinforced through inspirational leadership, empowerment and encouraging capable and approachable line management. The working environment is described as both safe and enjoyable.

#### Royal Bank of Scotland

RBS has adopted a total reward approach (Cowan). Aiming to support the business strategy, it is made up of three common elements: market competitive, reward contribution and individualisation. The bank takes a holistic view, but is clear what the various components of the strategy are designed to achieve. Its pay ranges are built around a position of market median practice; it operates clear salary ranges linked to sector/local markets; there is pay progression transparency; pay is linked to performance; there is freedom for staff to tailor individual packages (vis the firm's RBSelect scheme); and there are group-wide benefit and share plans. RBS has repositioned its benefits, moving from a structure of defined individual benefit entitlements to one with a defined funding level. This provides staff with the ability to tailor their benefits to better meet their needs, while making the value of their package transparent. RBSelect, a flexible benefits system, consists of core benefits, such as a final salary pension scheme, profit share and holidays, and elements of individual choice, including discounted childcare, a sharesave scheme, private medical cover and additional pension contributions.

# **Conclusions**

Strengthening employee engagement has become a key objective for an increasing number of organisations. There are various definitions of employee engagement, but most agree it's about individuals giving greater discretionary effort at work; going the extra mile. The rationale for raising engagement is that it improves individual and organisational performance. Numerous studies have concluded that engaged employees provide better levels of customer service and, as a result, generate higher levels of sales and profitability.

Organisations must understand what drives employee engagement in their environment and whether this differs by employee group. For many organisations, ensuring that staff feel valued and involved will be key and the role of managers in this regard will be critical. Good quality managers care about their staff, keep them informed, treat them fairly, encourage them to perform well and take an interest in, and help achieve, their career aspirations. Engagement is likely to be higher in a working environment that encourages harmony, with staff having respect for, and a willingness to help, each other, and where there is good two-way communication. The nature of the work is also important, with people working in stimulating jobs that give them a high degree of autonomy more likely to be engaged than those in monotonous jobs that allow very little control. Additionally, career advancement is vital and, where good learning and development and promotion opportunities exist, can strengthen engagement levels.

Well designed incentive or profit-sharing schemes can be part of the mix in generating organisational high performance. While financial reward is not a primary driver of engagement in many workplaces, disengagement can occur where rewards are perceived as being unfairly allocated or lagging behind those made to similar workers, it can provoke disengagement. There is evidence that if staff fail to understand how pay decisions are made, or do not trust the process of reward decision making, then disengagement will result. Ensuring fairness and equity in the allocation of financial rewards can, therefore, strengthen engagement. However, this is not enough. It is increasingly acknowledged that financial rewards alone will not deliver employee behaviours that really add value, and encourage staff to regularly go the extra mile at work. The overall reward strategy needs to accommodate the different wants and needs that determine someone's level of engagement.

Total reward, which goes beyond the traditional reward strategy and combines financial and non-financial rewards together with elements that provide intrinsic motivation, is fast becoming the preferred reward strategy of organisations wanting to raise engagement levels. Importantly, total reward is not a 'one-size-fits-all' approach, but offers organisations the flexibility to vary the reward mix, so that they can tailor their offering to specific employee groups, individuals or business units, and, therefore accommodate the diverse engagement factors that will exist in any workforce.

# References

- Adams J (1965), 'Inequity in social exchange', in Berkowitz L (ed), Advances in experimental social psychology, Academic Press
- Armstrong M (1999), Employee reward, Institute of Personnel and Development
- Armstrong M and Murlis H (2004), Reward management: a handbook of remuneration strategy and practice, Kogan Page
- Ashton D, Sung J (2002), Supporting Workplace Learning for High Performance Working, ILO
- Barber L, Hayday S and Bevan S (1999), From People to Profits, The Institute for **Employment Studies, Report 355**
- Baumeister R and Leary M (1995), 'The need to belong: desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human innovation', Psychological Bulletin, Vol. 117. No. 3
- Baumruk R (2004), 'The missing link: the role of employee engagement in business success', Workspan, November
- Blessing White (2006), Employee engagement report 2006
- Bloom M and Milkovich G (1998), 'Rethinking international compensation', Compensation and Benefits Review, April
- Bosworth D L (2005), Determinants of Enterprise Performance, Manchester University Press
- BT (2007), Social and environment report: employee engagement, www.btplc.com/Societyandenvironment/SocialandEnvironmentReport/section.asp x?sectionid=d71f0193-3ac9-4b91-9775-0a37125f7871
- Brown D and Armstrong M (1999), Paying for contribution: real performance-related pay strategies, Kogan Page
- Bryson A and Freeman R (2007), 'Doing the right thing: does fair share capitalism improve workplace performance?', Discussion Paper, Department of Trade and Industry
- Centrica (2006), Corporate responsibility report 2006, www.centrica.com/files/reports/2006cr/index.asp?pageid=58
- CIPD (2005), Managing change: the role of the psychological contract, www.cipd.co.uk/NR/rdonlyres/06B92739-19F8-4BB4-AE47-796EA5F5CB15/0/ manachang1105.pdf

- CIPD (2006a), How engaged are British employees?, www.cipd.co.uk/NR/rdonlyres/ E6871F47-558A-466E-9A74-4DFB1E71304C/0/howengbritempssr.pdf
- CIPD (2006b), Reflections on employee engagement, www.cipd.co.uk/NR/rdonlyres/ E8C71850-FB75-4CAB-901B-00D2363F311E/0/reflempengca.pdf
- CIPD (2007a), 'Employee engagement', factsheet, updated January 2007, www.cipd.co.uk/subjects/empreltns/general/empengmt.htm
- CIPD (2007b), Reward management: annual survey report, www.cipd.co.uk/NR/ rdonlyres/08FE4AE7-7DD5-4185-9070-F34225A6EB0C/0/rewmansr0107.pdf
- CIPD (2007c), 'Total reward', factsheet, updated April 2007, www.cipd.co.uk/subjects/pay/general/totrewdqf.htm
- Conference Board (2006), Employee engagement: a review of current research and its implications.
- Cowan J, (2006), Demonstrating the Value of Total Reward, Presentation to Employee Benefits Conference, Manchester
- Corporate Executive Board (CEB) (2007), Upgrading the organisation's employee engagement strategy, www.executiveboard.com
- Corporate Leadership Council (2004), 'Driving performance and retention through employee engagement', Washington, Corporate Executive Board
- e-reward (2005), 'Reward management: report on one-day conference held on 13 July 2005, organised jointly by e-reward and the CIPD', www.ereward.co.uk/pdf/SymposiumReport.pdf
- Fredrickson B (2001), 'The role of positive emotions in positive psychology', American Psychologist, Vol. 56, No. 3
- Gardner D, Van Dyne L, Pierce J (2004), 'The effects of pay level on organization-based self-esteem and performance: a field study', Journal of Organizational Psychology 77
- Guest D (2000), The Future of Work, CIPD
- Harter J (2000), 'The linkage of employee perception to outcomes in a retail environment: cause and effect?' The Gallup Research Journal, Vol. 3, No. 1
- Harter J, Schmidt F and Hayes T (2002a), 'Business-unit-level relationship between employee satisfaction, employee engagement and business outcomes: a metaanalysis', Journal of Applied Psychology, Vol. 87, No. 2
- Harter J, Schmidt F, Keyes C (2002b), 'Wellbeing in the workplace and its relationship to business outcomes: a review of the Gallup studies', in Keyes C and Haidt J (eds), Flourishing: the positive person and the good life, American Psychological Association
- Hay Group (2001), Engage employees and boost performance

- Heneman H and Judge T (2000), 'Compensation attitudes', in Rynes L and Gerhart B (eds), Compensation in organizations, Jossey Bass
- Heskett J, Sasser W and Schlesinger L (1997), The service profit chain, Free Press
- Higgs M (2006), 'Demonstrating the value of total reward', presentation at Employee Benefits conference, 26–27 April 2006
- Huselid M A, Rau B L (1997), 'The Determinants of High Performance Work Systems; Cross Sectional and Longitudinal Analyses', 1997 Academy of Management Meetings, Division
- IRS (2001), 'Cisco develops its reward package to empower staff', IRS Management Review 22, July
- ISR, Creating competitive advantage from your employees: a global study of employee engagement, www.isrinsight.com
- Jacques E (1961), Equitable payment, Wiley
- Jensen D, McMullen T and Stark M (2006), The manager's guide to rewards: what you need to know to get the best for and from your employees, AMACOM, American Management Association
- Jones J and Harter J (2005), 'Race effects on the employee engagement-turnover intention relationship', Journal of Leadership and Organizational Studies, January
- Kahn W (1990), 'Psychological conditions of personal engagement and disengagement at work', Academy of Management Journal, Vol. 33
- Koys D (2001), 'The effects of employee satisfaction, organisational citizenship behaviour and turnover on organisational effectiveness: a unit-level, longitudinal study, Personnel Psychology, 54
- Nationwide Building Society, www.nationwide.co.uk/bettersociety/employees/fair\_society.htm
- LeBlanc Group (2002), The knowledge of pay study: e mails from the frontline, WorldatWork
- Personnel Today (2007), 'RBS employee engagement award', 7 August
- Pfeffer J (1998), The human equation: building profits by putting people first, Harvard **Business School Press**
- Robinson D, Perryman S and Hayday S (2004), The drivers of employee engagement, IES Research Networks, report 408
- Rucci A J, Kirn S and Quinn R T (1998), 'The employee-customer-profit chain at Sears', Harvard Business Review, January/February

- Salanova M, Agut S and Maria Peiro J (2005), 'Linking organisational resources and work engagement to employee and customer loyalty: the mediation of the service climate', Journal of Applied Psychology, Vol. 90, No. 6
- Suff P (2005), 'Banking on performance in the financial services sector', IRS Employment Review 835, 18 November
- Suff P and Reilly P (2007), The going rate: paying for specialist skills, IES
- Suff R (2004), 'Choice rewards at Nationwide', IRS Employment Review 802, 18 June
- Suff R (2006a), 'Getting engaged: employee satisfaction at the West Brom', IRS Employment Review 843, 24 March
- Suff R (2006b), 'Smooth take-off for First Choice Airways' new reward strategy', IRS Employment Review 843, 24 March
- Tamkin, P Cowling M, Hunt W (2008), 'People and the Bottom Line', IES Report 448
- Tamkin, P. (2005), 'The Contribution of Skills to Business Performance', DfES.
- Thompson P (2002), Total reward: executive briefing, CIPD
- Towers Perrin (2003), Working today: understanding what drives employee engagement, www.towersperrin.com/tp/getwebcachedoc?webc=HRS/CAN/2004/200408/Talent\_ canada\_eng.pdf
- Towers Perrin (2005), Winning strategies for a global workforce: attracting and engaging employees for competitive advantage, www.towersperrin.com/tp/getwebcachedoc?webc=HRS/USA/2006/200602/GWS.pdf
- Towers Perrin/ISR (2007), Engaged employees drive the bottom line, www.isrinsight.com/pdf/solutions/EngagementBrochureFinalUS.pdf
- Tritch T (2003), 'B&Q boots employee engagement and profits', Gallup Management Journal, May
- Vance R J (2006), Effective Practice guidelines: employee engagement and commitment, Alexandria Va, SHRM Foundation
- Whiteley P (2006), 'History repeating itself', Personnel Today, 11 April
- Wilkinson A (2007), 'Total reward is helping to define a new era of benefits', Employee Benefits, 2 February
- Wolff C (2005), 'Aiming for the highest peak: Centrica targets commitment', IRS Employment Review 815, 14 January
- Wrzesniewski A, McCauley C, Rozin P and Schwartz B (1997), 'Jobs, careers and callings: people's relations to their work', Journal of Research in Personality, Vol. 31
- Wustemann L (2003), 'Rules of engagement', IRS Employment Review 783, 9 September